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          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Good morning,

          3  everyone. I would like to call this meeting on the

          4  Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises to order.

          5                 Joining me are members of the

          6  Committee, Council Members Dilan, Felder, Katz,

          7  Seabrook and Sears. And we also have Council Member

          8  Dickens with us.

          9                 We have two items on the agenda this

         10  morning. We're going to skip over and do the second

         11  one first, which is Land Use No. 117. Application by

         12  Deluxe on Broadway, Incorporated, also known as Cafe

         13  Deluxe, to establish and maintain and operate an

         14  unenclosed sidewalk cafe located at 2896 Broadway.

         15  This is application No. 20065196 TCM.

         16                 And we have representatives of the

         17  applicant here. Bob Bookman.

         18                 MR. BOOKMAN: Good morning, Mr.

         19  Chairman, members of the Committee, Councilwoman

         20  Dickens. My name is Robert Bookman. I'm the attorney

         21  representing the applicant Cafe Deluxe. With me is

         22  James Garretsen, the licensed architect, who is the

         23  architect who has done the plans originally back in

         24  1999 when this cafe was first approved, and has done

         25  many sidewalk cafes prior and since then, and is
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          2  recognized as an expert in the field.

          3                 This restaurant opened in 1999,

          4  immediately applied for a sidewalk cafe in Upper

          5  Broadway. It is an extremely wide sidewalk,

          6  approximately 24 feet wide. And we opened a

          7  restaurant across the street at approximately the

          8  same time. The renewal will probably be coming up

          9  shortly as well. Both applications attract each

         10  other, and both original applications were for

         11  sidewalk cafe of approximately 11 feet and four

         12  inches.

         13                 When we originally went to the

         14  Community Board in 1999, they took the position that

         15  they have a policy of only wanting a third of the

         16  sidewalk or a maximum eight feet to be occupied by a

         17  sidewalk cafe, regardless of the width of the

         18  sidewalk.

         19                 As you well know, the law allows for

         20  up to 50 percent of the sidewalk.

         21                 We agreed to disagree on that issue,

         22  and our cafe across the street was called up to this

         23  Committee when it was Chaired by Council Member

         24  McCaffrey at the time. We were asked if there was

         25  anything we could do to compromise with the
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          2  community, and we agreed for both cafes, the one

          3  that was called up and this one that would have been

          4  called up but was a month behind it, reduce our

          5  footprint from 11 foot four inches to the ten foot

          6  four inches, to the ten foot four inches, which is

          7  ultimately what was approved for both cafes, this

          8  one and across the street, and at the suggestion of

          9  this Committee and that's what has been ever since

         10  1999.

         11                 I will concede that every time we go

         12  for renewal to the Community Board, we have the same

         13  issue, that they were not satisfied with the

         14  Council's suggested compromise of ten foot four

         15  inches, that their policy is eight feet, and as you

         16  know, it is certainly the applicant's position, and

         17  it has historically been the position of the Council

         18  that while the review of the community boards is

         19  valuable in providing information concerning a

         20  particular location, if there's something specific

         21  about that location or about that operator, that we

         22  cannot have different laws in different

         23  neighborhoods throughout the City. And we feel that

         24  that is in fact the only substantive issue here, is

         25  that with all due respect to this Community Board,
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          2  they want the law to be eight feet, maximum use, and

          3  not 50 percent of the sidewalk, which we have less.

          4                 Mr. Garretsen will speak about the

          5  survey he did after we were informed that this case

          6  was called up, of that location and of the

          7  surrounding areas.

          8                 I would just say parenthetically that

          9  we maintain approximately a 13 foot sidewalk

         10  clearance at this location, and the law is really

         11  more oriented toward clearance than how much space

         12  the cafe uses. I mean theoretically you can have a

         13  50 foot wide sidewalk, the clearance is the issue,

         14  and a 13 foot clearance is more, I would say, than

         15  90 percent of the sidewalk cafes in the City of New

         16  York, most of which have eight, nine, ten foot

         17  clearances considered for a nice clearance. Here we

         18  have a 13 foot clearance.

         19                 This restaurant is owned by Simon

         20  Oren and his partners. They have many sidewalk cafes

         21  and many restaurants throughout the City. They're

         22  well recognized as good operators. In the six years

         23  that they have been here, they have not received a

         24  single sidewalk cafe violation from the Department

         25  of Consumer Affairs or any other agency, despite
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          2  annual inspections. As a matter of fact, as a result

          3  of this case being called up, Consumer Affairs just

          4  went out last week, on April 27th, did a full

          5  inspection and a certificate of inspection was

          6  issued saying no violations.

          7                 The cafe is in complete compliance

          8  with all laws and regulations. To our knowledge we

          9  have never had a complaint from anybody in the

         10  community or from the community board, other than

         11  this issue of they want us to occupy no more than

         12  eight feet, as opposed to the ten feet four inches

         13  which we do occupy.

         14                 The only thing, also, I want to add

         15  to the Committee is that coming here this morning, I

         16  did notice on the table for the first time prepared

         17  testimony from the honorable Councilwoman Dickens.

         18  And these are, many of these are new issues, as far

         19  as I'm concerned. I would like some time to speak to

         20  my client and get back to you concerning it.

         21                 As I said, we've never had a

         22  violation and never had, you know, a complaint. I do

         23  see as to the first two paragraphs of her testimony

         24  concern how the 24 tables and 48 seats are laid out,

         25  as far as where the door is, that's simply a matter
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          2  of when the application was originally applied, it

          3  was a new construction, the door was going to be

          4  over here, it wound up being over here. It doesn't

          5  impact on the number of tables and chairs which

          6  conceded that we were in compliance with. It's

          7  simply, you know, how many are on this side of the

          8  door versus that side of the door, quite frankly, is

          9  irrelevant. Consumer Affairs has considered it

         10  irrelevant. Space to the door is appropriate, and we

         11  don't spread over onto anybody else's property.

         12                 And this Committee knows me, they

         13  know my client. If there's a way we can compromise

         14  without losing, you know, further, if we can

         15  compromise to compromise from 1999, we would gladly

         16  do it. But there is no way to shrink any further

         17  without losing 25 percent of our sidewalk seats. And

         18  we appreciate that the Community Board and the

         19  Councilwoman is not suggesting that we have no cafe

         20  there. And we do appreciate that. But a shrinking to

         21  eight feet in this case takes the outer row of

         22  four-tops and effectively duces pushed together and

         23  reduces them to two-tops and it's a 25 percent

         24  reduction in the number of seats at a cafe with a

         25  good operating record.
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          2                 It will also make it, as Mr.

          3  Garretsen will tell you, the narrowest cafe in the

          4  neighborhood. And we don't know why we should be

          5  picked on when we have a good history, and why all

          6  the other cafes in the neighborhood are all, by the

          7  way, ten to ten feet of cafe space are occupied.

          8  Every single one of them. That's what this Committee

          9  consistently approved.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. GARRETSEN: Good morning. I'm

         12  James Garretsen, a registered architect in New York

         13  State. I've done over 100 cafe applications in the

         14  last ten years. Last week I went up and checked the

         15  cafe layout and it met with DCA requirements.

         16                 I also surveyed the cafes in the

         17  area, and they're all between ten and ten foot six

         18  coming out from the property line, and having

         19  minimum of 13 feet sidewalk clearance, which, as Rob

         20  said, I think is probably the greatest clearance,

         21  other than private property in the City of New York.

         22                 Now I'll go a step further. I also

         23  conducted a pedestrian count which is a pedestrian

         24  level which is set up by DOT in New York City to

         25  determine when you have congestion in front, and the
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          2  cafe passed quite well, even during some of the peak

          3  times.

          4                 I also have photographs, if anybody

          5  wants to have photographs that we can pass out, of

          6  the cafe to see exactly how much space is in front

          7  of it.

          8                 And that basically is my testimony.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 MR. BOOKMAN: Mr. Chairman, joined

         11  with me is Simon Oren, the owner of the restaurant,

         12  who would just like to add a couple of words. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 MR. OREN: A few days ago on the

         15  Sunday Times in the City section there was a little

         16  article about a restaurant that is three, four

         17  blocks away from us, and it's there for about 40

         18  years, and it's the moms and pops operation, and he

         19  has to go out of business. I don't know if you guys

         20  read it or not. But he has to go out of business

         21  because his rent went up. And, you know, rents go up

         22  all over the place and all over the City, and the

         23  only way that we can match, and we can make a go of

         24  any business out there is somehow try to do as good

         25  sidewalk cafe as we can, or a better product that we
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          2  give.

          3                 If we cannot afford the cafe, if we

          4  cannot afford the rent, a bank will come to the

          5  area, or maybe a Starbucks that can afford, and I

          6  don't know if they can afford or not, but does the

          7  neighborhood or the community want to change a

          8  restaurant into a bank or a drug store? Is this what

          9  you want for your neighborhood? For our

         10  neighborhood? I think the cafe is nice. I mean, it's

         11  totally legal. We never, ever got any violations,

         12  ever. Some of the stuff that's written here, I don't

         13  know where they got it. There's no record of any

         14  illegality whatsoever.

         15                 So, I think if you want restaurants,

         16  and you want cafes in that neighborhood, and we make

         17  the neighborhood good, I think that you should allow

         18  us to be legally by law the side cafe that we are.

         19                 MR. BOOKMAN: I just want to point

         20  out, it might seem like a 25 percent reduction in

         21  number of tables and chairs should not be critical

         22  to the operation of the business, but that's what

         23  Mr. Oren is trying to say, you know, in his broken

         24  English, but I think he got the point across. It

         25  would be a significant reduction in our income. This
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          2  is a neighborhood restaurant. It's been well

          3  received by the residents in the neighborhood.

          4  That's never been the issue, and we don't think that

          5  we should be put at a competitive disadvantage with

          6  all the other restaurants in the area that have

          7  cafes, all of which who occupy ten feet to ten foot

          8  six inches of sidewalk space.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Before I take

         11  questions from Committee members, I would like to

         12  call on Council Member Dickens.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the opportunity to

         15  testify before the Committee this morning.

         16                 I am here to speak in regards to the

         17  renewal of an application for an unenclosed sidewalk

         18  cafe filed by Deluxe Cafe located at 2896 Broadway,

         19  at the southeast corner of West 113th Street, which

         20  is in my district.

         21                 My colleagues, I oppose the renewal

         22  of this application in its current layout of 24

         23  tables with 48 chairs because the Land Use staff has

         24  found that the applicant, Deluxe Cafe, has

         25  repeatedly breached sidewalk cafe rules and
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          2  regulations.

          3                 Staff has visited the Deluxe Cafe

          4  four times in the last ten days, and found several

          5  flagrant violations. Today, in 2006, the cafe's

          6  configuration on the sidewalk does not match the

          7  approved plans. There are supposed to be 12 tables

          8  and 24 chairs on either side of the double doors.

          9                 On every visit the Land Use staff

         10  found that there were 16 tables and 32 chairs on the

         11  northside of the double doors, eight tables and 16

         12  chairs on the south side. Double doors are censored

         13  in the front of the restaurant.

         14                 This configuration made the sidewalk

         15  cafe wider than was allowable, spilling over into

         16  the neighboring building's property.

         17                 Another major issue is that the

         18  actual tables used for the sidewalk cafe are larger

         19  than those shown on the approved plan. This causes

         20  the cafe's configuration to be in violation of the

         21  mandatory three-foot width rule for a waiter aisle.

         22                 Since there was no three-foot aisle,

         23  patrons could not be seated from within the cafe and

         24  waiter staff could not serve patrons from within the

         25  boundaries of the cafe.
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          2                 Waiter staff were observed seating

          3  patrons by pulling apart the railing, and then later

          4  serving them from the sidewalk. Both are violations.

          5                 This past Sunday, April 30th, I and

          6  my staff personally visited the Deluxe Cafe, and I

          7  personally observed patrons seated at tables with

          8  their chairs in the aisle, blocking other patrons

          9  from exiting the interior of the restaurant. This is

         10  a serious Fire Code violation, and I am concerned

         11  for the patrons and for the protection of the Deluxe

         12  Cafe itself from possible suit in the event of

         13  tragedy. We're talking about the lives of our

         14  citizens of and visitors to our great City.

         15                 The Land Use staff also measured and

         16  found the cafe came out further on the sidewalk than

         17  the allowed ten feet four inches, and the cafe had

         18  more than the allowed 48 chairs on the sidewalk.

         19  Additional chairs were illegally stored on the

         20  City-owned sidewalk.

         21                 Finally, staff viewed an illegal

         22  A-Frame planter and waiter station on the premises.

         23                 Sidewalk cafe permits are revocable

         24  because they are a privilege, not a right. But even

         25  with their blatant disregard of the law, I do not
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          2  believe that the Deluxe Cafe should be barred

          3  completely from having a sidewalk cafe. Sidewalk

          4  cafes make up the fabric during the summer months of

          5  my community.

          6                 I ask that this Committee instead

          7  reduce Deluxe's sidewalk cafe permit to allow no

          8  more than 18 tables and 36 chairs.

          9                 Furthermore, Deluxe must use tables

         10  that will fit into the configuration of the

         11  submitted plans, allowing for three-foot waiter

         12  aisle and the illegal A-Frame planter and waiter

         13  station must be moved.

         14                 For the record, Chairman and my

         15  colleagues, this is in no way personal nor picking

         16  on Deluxe Cafe, it's owners, or Attorney Bookman

         17  whose photo is absolutely beautiful, although it

         18  must have been taken at 6:00 a.m. in the morning.

         19                 I hope my colleagues understand and

         20  approve my request for this particular applicant,

         21  and I thank you for your time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I think it's

         23  closer to 8:00 a.m. You're red in the face, Bob.

         24  You're like an apple at this point.

         25                 MR. BOOKMAN: It's high blood
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          2  pressure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,

          4  Council member.

          5                 Do you want to respond before I go

          6  into questions from Committee members?

          7                 MR. BOOKMAN: I do. And, yes, the

          8  photograph, obviously we're going to take a

          9  photograph when it's most beneficial.

         10                 Having said that, with all due

         11  honesty, you know, nevertheless, we are talking

         12  about a 13-foot-wide clearance, and I don't know

         13  what to say about the accusations in which we deem

         14  to be serious and we will immediately investigate.

         15  You know, other than the first one which I told you,

         16  it's where the door was. To me that's not

         17  significant.

         18                 The rest of it is significant, you

         19  know, I don't know if you were planning on going to

         20  a vote today, but I would certainly have an

         21  opportunity to investigate and get back to you. But

         22  I do know that we don't know when Consumer Affairs

         23  comes and does their inspections, even I don't know

         24  that. They come unannounced, and they did come

         25  unannounced within the week, and they've come
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          2  unannounced every year in the last few years, and we

          3  have never received a violation, which is an

          4  incredible record for a sidewalk cafe.

          5                 So, if these Land Use observations,

          6  staff observations were true on a regular basis, at

          7  some point in six years we would have gotten a

          8  violation, at some point we would have gotten a

          9  letter from the community board, you know, saying,

         10  you know, you're coming up for renewal, take a look

         11  at this, take a look at that.

         12                 I don't believe that we occupy more

         13  space than we've been allotted, and we certainly

         14  don't put out more chairs than we're allotted. We

         15  don't need to.

         16                 There may have been on a particular

         17  days some stored, you know, in a stack, that's

         18  possible, but not as far as seating of individuals.

         19                 Do you have anything to add on those

         20  points?

         21                 MR. OREN: Well, my question to you,

         22  Ma'am is --

         23                 MR. BOOKMAN: No, no questions.

         24                 MR. OREN: I'm sorry.

         25                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you very much.
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          2  Unless there are any questions from the Committee.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I know Council

          4  Member Sears has a question.

          5                 Before I call on her, though. You

          6  just made a statement that you'd like some time to

          7  review this. I don't see where that has any

          8  relevance, because in effect, staff went out four

          9  times, saw these violations. Whether you investigate

         10  it or not, he saw the violations. And obviously you

         11  know from previous meetings of this Committee that

         12  the Chair and the members of this Committee take

         13  very seriously violations, and we expect people who

         14  get a benefit from the City, and in case any

         15  restaurant that gets, you know, the benefit, to

         16  follow the law and not have violations. And

         17  regardless of whether DCA went out and found nothing

         18  on one particular occasion, the fact that staff went

         19  out and found violations on four occasions to me is

         20  serious.

         21                 Council Member Sears, you had a

         22  question?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Everybody loves outdoor cafes, and
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          2  that's what New York City is about. Certainly we

          3  wish we had more of them with their controls and

          4  what the regulations are. What I don't understand

          5  and I'm asking, because it's very obvious from this

          6  picture that waiters would have to come outside the

          7  box. Let's just refer to it as "the box." Because I

          8  don't think the picture exaggerates, but you have to

          9  be very limited, and I'm asking, because I haven't

         10  been to your cafe, that you have to have very

         11  limited space for the waiters to come through.

         12                 One of the things, and certainly the

         13  community boards have their rules and regulations.

         14  We know community boards are advisory, but we musn't

         15  stretch that too far, because their input is very

         16  valuable. And they have regulations for their

         17  outdoor cafes. How much of a hardship is it to

         18  comply with the Community Board's regulations? I

         19  mean, why is there a big difference between you and

         20  the Community Board?

         21                 MR. BOOKMAN: Well, it's a huge

         22  hardship, because in this case -- the Community

         23  Board is saying, and it's not a secret, they say no

         24  on every application that is more than a third of

         25  the sidewalk, eight feet of space. In this case
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          2  eight feet of space with the reduction of one, two,

          3  three, four, five -- six tables and 12 seats, 25

          4  percent of the entire cafe.

          5                 So, it is a huge difference. It's not

          6  just a philosophical difference. It is a huge

          7  difference when communities create their own laws

          8  which differ from the laws for the rest of the City.

          9                 I go to many community boards, you

         10  know, on behalf of sidewalk cafe and other

         11  applicants and regularly we hear community boards

         12  passing policies, no enclosed cafes in our district,

         13  across the board. Streets count as obstructions,

         14  across the board. It opens the floodgates to having

         15  a bulkenized New York City, frankly, with different

         16  rules for businesses in different locations, based

         17  on the vagaries of a current community board's

         18  policy. That's why we have a regulatory agency that

         19  sets -- you create the laws, and they pass rules,

         20  and those rules are published for all of us to see.

         21  The Community Board rules are not published, by the

         22  way. They're their rules.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes, Mr.

         24  Bookman, I know that. What's important, though, I

         25  think about community boards, and it's true, when we
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          2  pass legislation in the Council, it's not for little

          3  pockets of the City, it's for the entire City. And

          4  one of the responsibilities of community boards is

          5  to maintain the dynamics, the profile and the myriad

          6  of charm that any community has, and it is the

          7  responsibility of the community board, even though

          8  they don't make laws, to see that development and

          9  the expansion of all of the businesses in the

         10  nightlife and the daylife, which is very essential

         11  to the City of New York, that it does have some

         12  proposed rules that they would like the businesses

         13  to follow.

         14                 What that does is just to help a

         15  great assimilation between the business community

         16  and the community itself and the elected officials,

         17  recognizing that there may be a reduction of

         18  revenue, he may look at the design of his tables. I

         19  mean, it looks to me like they're square or

         20  rectangle or whatever. But, you know, it seems like,

         21  I think the bottom line for me, it seems like it's

         22  not such a -- it's an issue that's really growing

         23  and it's conflict, you're in conflict with the

         24  Board, the Councilwoman and it seems like it's

         25  almost needless to do that, because you might look
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          2  at how you can have what you want, and at the same

          3  time work with them. It's not a thing to be in

          4  conflict when they don't have to. And if you've got

          5  to reduce a few tables, maybe your tables will turn

          6  over faster and you will be able to make up that

          7  revenue.

          8                 MR. BOOKMAN: The last thing we want

          9  is conflict.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: But that's

         11  what's happening.

         12                 MR. BOOKMAN: With anybody. I know.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: But that's

         14  what's happening, and I'm saying I think you should

         15  look at how you can reduce that conflict.

         16                 Because as I said earlier, outdoor

         17  cafes are wonderful. Nobody objects to them, and

         18  community boards need to have their input and the

         19  officials in the communities, because they're the

         20  ones who get a lot of complaints about it, to

         21  compromise. So that you can have your business, and

         22  at the same time give the charm and the recreation

         23  that outdoor cafes do.

         24                 MR. BOOKMAN: And I couldn't agree

         25  more and that's exactly what we did when the
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          2  application was first filed. We compromised as a

          3  result of this Committee requesting us to, and as a

          4  result of Councilman Perkins at the time requesting

          5  us to, and we reduced the cafe from 11 feet and

          6  inches to the ten feet and inches. What we're being

          7  asked now, because a few years have gone by, to

          8  compromise a compromise. And that's what I'm trying

          9  to say here is not fair, (a); and (b) eight-feet

         10  clearance, an eight-foot cafe makes a 15-foot

         11  sidewalk clearance in this portion of Broadway, how

         12  do we justify requiring a 15-foot clearance for this

         13  neighborhood when we pass cafes every day with eight

         14  feet clearances, half of that, and nine feet

         15  clearances and ten feet clearances, unless there's

         16  some particular congestion issue, which Mr.

         17  Garretsen did a count and found there was not.

         18                 The last thing I want to say is, with

         19  all due respect to staff, when people are accused of

         20  violating laws and regulations in this country, you

         21  have a right to due process. And if Consumer Affairs

         22  issued violations, it would have been written, we

         23  would have had time to review it, we'd have a

         24  hearing, and with all due respect to the

         25  investigators at the Department of Consumer Affairs,
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          2  because they issue an accusation, it doesn't mean

          3  you're guilty of it. And I've had many charges

          4  dismissed over the years. And I object to the

          5  automatic truthfulness of accusations that we

          6  haven't had an opportunity to see, that haven't been

          7  in writing, and we haven't had an opportunity to

          8  effectively challenge.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: You're entitled

         10  to your objection, but I think we stand behind our

         11  staff.

         12                 I have several members that want to

         13  also ask questions. One quick comment before I call

         14  on Council Member Katz is, that despite your

         15  arguments about the standards that apply to

         16  unenclosed sidewalk cafes throughout the entire

         17  City, we do review these cases on an individual

         18  basis and we do reduce or enlarge tables and chairs

         19  on each case. So, I don't think that we're doing

         20  something here inappropriate.

         21                 Council Member Katz.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         23  Councilman McMahon was just updating me on the

         24  conversation that happened. I was trying to find out

         25  some information from our Director of Land Use.
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          2                 I guess it's more of a comment. I

          3  think that here today is an interesting situation,

          4  and the sidewalk cafe, as Robert knows all too well

          5  maybe at times, that it's a very local issue, and we

          6  all have very local sidewalk cafe issues. I know in

          7  my district what's appropriate much better than I

          8  believe anybody else does, and I would probably say

          9  the same for Council Member Dickens and all of us,

         10  and historically as the Land Use Chair, unlike a lot

         11  of the issues that we face, this is one of the main

         12  local issues. So, due deference is normally given to

         13  the Council member.

         14                 I just also want to point out on the

         15  record that what we're doing is lowering the amount

         16  of tables and chairs. That's all we're doing, and

         17  that's been done in most of our districts time and

         18  time again as issues arise.

         19                 And although I appreciate the

         20  comments regarding staff looking at the sidewalk

         21  cafe, and to a certain extent I understand the

         22  response, because we normally do give time for the

         23  applicant to respond. In this particular case, I'm

         24  not sure that that sways me as much anyway, because

         25  I think if the Council Member said, look, this is a
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          2  problem, they're coming out onto the sidewalk, there

          3  are too many people at each table, it's a hang-out

          4  for kids and they're adding chairs. That would

          5  probably be enough to sort of sway, I believe, the

          6  Committee anyway.

          7                 But I just wanted it on the record

          8  that what we're doing is basically changing the

          9  number of table and chairs, that's it. And that's

         10  important for me, since we all know that the

         11  districts, you know, the law is the law, and the

         12  amendment is going to be the number.

         13                 So, I thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I neglected to

         15  mention that we've been joined by Council Member

         16  McMahon. We've also been joined by Council Member

         17  Jackson.

         18                 And Council Member Seabrook has a

         19  question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         21  very much, Mr. Chairman. Just a quick question,

         22  perhaps you can respond. The Councilwoman and the

         23  Council staff actually had the opportunity to do a

         24  number of visits and brought this to the attention

         25  of the body.
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          2                 Now, this is not a judicial hearing

          3  that would require innocence or guilt, but perhaps

          4  you can respond to what the Councilwoman has raised,

          5  these issues of concern, that says what she observed

          6  and what the staff observed, and they consider it a

          7  violation.

          8                 And we are in America, and you said

          9  the opportunity and the right to be heard, as a

         10  response is here, so let's hear the response to the

         11  Councilwoman's allegations.

         12                 MR. BOOKMAN: That's fair enough,

         13  Councilman.

         14                 MR. OREN: I'd like to respond.

         15                 First, I would like to respond to the

         16  question is it enough room for the service. Yes,

         17  there is a three-foot aisle for the waiters to go by

         18  and it's in the plan.

         19                 Regarding if there were four visits

         20  by your staff, I agree, the violation that we have

         21  is there are flowers outside. There are two planters

         22  that I'm willing to take right away. Yes, you're

         23  right, the chairs and the tables are different. I

         24  mean, they take the same amount into the sidewalk,

         25  but they are not north and south. Instead of six and
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          2  six, they are eight, they are eight and four, or

          3  whatever. They do take the same amount to the

          4  sidewalk.

          5                 We don't own more than 48 chairs.

          6  More than 48 chairs. We don't own it. So, these are

          7  the chairs that we have. I don't know which chairs

          8  were stored. I have no idea what chairs we're

          9  talking about.

         10                 I have only chairs outside, it's the

         11  only thing that we own. We only own the amount of

         12  tables. We are very strict about that. I never got a

         13  violation. I never got a violation from Consumer

         14  Affairs or the community boards. Every community

         15  board in the City that have sidewalk cafes are very

         16  happy with my sidewalk cafes. And I've never got a

         17  violation and have never been here regarding that.

         18  The only time I was here was seven years ago on the

         19  same case where we settled for this number.

         20                 And the truth is, and you're asking a

         21  compromise, I'd like to compromise as much as, and

         22  anything that you say so far, and I'm taking the

         23  same amount of the sidewalk.

         24                 I will not go forward. If you want me

         25  to move the chairs, if you want me to move the
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          2  tables from north to south, I will. You want me to

          3  make the tables smaller, I'll cut them in half.

          4                 If I'm missing two, three inches here

          5  and there, I'll cut the tables in half. You want me

          6  to take the flowers? I'll take the flowers out. You

          7  want me to take the waiter station? I'll take the

          8  waiter station out. But leave me the integrity of

          9  paying my rent, instead of me going out of business

         10  in two years.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         13  Sears.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: What happens

         15  when you take six chairs and have a station table of

         16  eight? What happens is that you've created an

         17  environment that becomes very cumbersome. And that

         18  is where I think that it's difficult for people to

         19  move. It's not uncommon to suddenly accommodate

         20  people of eight, when you don't have that and to

         21  move them. That probably is something that would be

         22  considered because just by the very nature of doing

         23  that and the dimensions that you have, it creates a

         24  cumbersome environment.

         25                 You still have the sidewalk space.
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          2  You may still be within the confines of what the

          3  regulations are, but you have reconfigured the

          4  environment. That is a very different thing, and

          5  that seems to me is what so much of this conflict is

          6  about.

          7                 So, you may be very razor sharp on

          8  what the rules and regulations are, but the other

          9  amenities you've done, with your service station,

         10  with accommodating eight people instead of six or

         11  five, the size of your tables, you actually change

         12  the physical environment. And that is what is a very

         13  cumbersome difficulty from what I seem to deal with.

         14                 So, if you're prepared to adjust that

         15  cumbersome environment, then that is something that

         16  is certainly worth talking about.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         19  Dickens.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         21  much. Thank you so much, Mr. Chair.

         22                 With all due respect to Deluxe, which

         23  is a very important part of my community, and of

         24  which I and my testimony said I am not interested in

         25  destroying the sidewalk cafe, because that makes up
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          2  the fabric.

          3                 However, two things, on the day

          4  before yesterday I stayed there for at least a half

          5  an hour, and I personally saw patrons sitting in the

          6  aisles, and it blocked the egress if there was an

          7  emergency from patrons inside the restaurant that

          8  you had to say excuse me and slide past, because the

          9  patrons were sitting in the aisle of the sidewalk

         10  cafe part.

         11                 The other thing is, I have a

         12  photograph that was taken at 1:00 in the afternoon

         13  on April the 25th that shows, if I may present this

         14  to the Chair, waiters servicing patrons from outside

         15  the box.

         16                 So, I am very concerned about these

         17  violations, because this pose a real tragedy if

         18  something happened to that nature. But by no means,

         19  Deluxe, am I interested in destroying you, I just

         20  want the downsizing, that's all.

         21                 MR. BOOKMAN: Those are very

         22  disturbing observations, we agree, and you saw them,

         23  they're there, and they're not acceptable, and would

         24  not be acceptable to us, and all we can do is assure

         25  you, no matter what size we are, they will never
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          2  happen again.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. We

          4  actually have one speaker on this item.

          5                 I understand we have a representative

          6  of Community Board 9.

          7                 Oh, I'm sorry, Council Member

          8  Seabrook has another question.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes, just a

         10  question and a point of concern that perhaps,

         11  certainly the Councilwoman has clearly indicated

         12  that her desire is not to put you out of business,

         13  but to enhance the safety and security of your

         14  business and the citizens in which you represent.

         15  So, perhaps I think there should be that dialogue

         16  and that opportunity to work an adjustment out that

         17  would certainly be suitable to her, and so that the

         18  changing of the configuration doesn't change the

         19  dimensions and the dynamics are what takes place.

         20                 So, I think you all certainly heard

         21  her. She was very clear and succinct with what her

         22  concerns are and perhaps we all can move to middle

         23  ground to make it better so when she comes back she

         24  will say it has all been done.

         25                 MR. BOOKMAN: We'd love to do that,

                                                            33

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  and we'd love to work with the Councilwoman's office

          3  with our current layout and see if there's any

          4  possible way to maintain the number of tables and

          5  chairs while satisfying these objections. If at all

          6  possible, we'd be glad to do it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

          8  very much, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         10                 Sir.

         11                 We've also been joined by Committee

         12  member, Council Member Al Vann.

         13                 MR. REYES-MONTBLANC: Good morning. My

         14  name is Jordi Reyes-Montblanc. I am the Chair of

         15  Community Board 9.

         16                 Council Member Dickens have expressed

         17  thoroughly the situation on this issue, and that is

         18  reflective of our position on this matter, and we

         19  strongly recommend the resizing to the eight feet

         20  that has been the practice. And that's all I have to

         21  say.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Any questions?

         23                 Council Member Sears? Okay, Council

         24  Member Jackson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 Jordi, good morning.

          4                 MR. REYES-MONTBLANC: Good morning.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Let me just

          6  disclose everyone this information. Jordi is the

          7  Chair of Community Board 9, and Inez Dickens and

          8  myself are two Council members that the geographical

          9  area is Community Board 9.

         10                 I see that the Community Board's

         11  action was 26 against one in favor, and one

         12  abstention; is that correct?

         13                 MR. REYES-MONTBLANC: I believe so.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think

         15  you've heard the discussion between my colleagues

         16  and the response by the owner and the people

         17  representing there; did you or anyone from Community

         18  Board 9 have an opportunity to hear testimony and

         19  view the premises?

         20                 Because if you listen to the two

         21  sides on this story, you get the clear impression

         22  that what the staff viewed, and what Council Member

         23  Dickens viewed, with their own eyes, if I were to

         24  listen to the representative or the owners, it would

         25  give the impression that it's not true.
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          2                 MR. REYES-MONTBLANC: I dare say that

          3  that is more the practice than the exception, and

          4  that both Ted Coloff (phonetic), who is the Chair of

          5  the Uniformed Services and Transportation Committee,

          6  who is the Committee that deals with sidewalk cafe,

          7  and myself, have on many occasions checked out

          8  Deluxe, which is chronically known to perform in

          9  this fashion. And we do not give citations.

         10  Community boards don't give citations, community

         11  boards don't give tickets. The only time that we

         12  have a chance to address the issue is when they come

         13  up for renewal.

         14                 And this has been the case in every

         15  instance since the original application. And

         16  basically the recommendations of the board are

         17  ignored, and somehow or other get whatever they

         18  want. I hope that's not the situation this time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         20                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         22                 Seeing no one else signed up to speak

         23  on this item, I will close the public hearing on it.

         24  And we will move to the next item.

         25                 I would suggest that the applicant
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          2  and Mr. Bookman reach out to the Council member in

          3  the next few minutes and have some discussions.

          4                 You've got some time, the next item

          5  is a long one also.

          6                 We're waiting for the applicant to

          7  come up from downstairs, because they've been in

          8  negotiations with Council Member Gerson. So, as soon

          9  as they enter the room, we will go on to the next

         10  item.

         11                 To continue on, the next item is Land

         12  Use No. 119 through 121, commonly referred to as the

         13  311 West Broadway application. Application submitted

         14  by United American Land, LLC.

         15                 I will call up the applicant to make

         16  the presentation.

         17                 This project lies within Council

         18  Member Gerson's district.

         19                 MR. ZIPSER: Mr. Chairman, members of

         20  the Committee, I appear hear before you, my name is

         21  Howard Zipser, and I am a member of the Law Firm of

         22  Stadtmauer Balkin, and we're representing United

         23  American Land, the applicant.

         24                 I'm slightly out of breath because

         25  we've been in negotiations with adjoining property
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          2  owners to reach an accord today. We believe we've

          3  done so. I would like to read only a portion of my

          4  speech because of time constraints. I will not be

          5  discussing the text, because at every hearing, and

          6  there was seven hearings, public hearings, there was

          7  never any question about the text, which was

          8  basically a correction of an oversight by City

          9  Planning when a few years ago they passed

         10  legislation under 74-712.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Do you want to

         12  catch your breath?

         13                 MR. ZIPSER: I just gave blood

         14  literally. I mean, I thought the Land Use process

         15  was difficult, but I'm learning that it's also

         16  dangerous.

         17                 Anyway, I briefly would go through

         18  the applications that we're asking for pursuant to

         19  74-712, and my architect Lilla Smith from the firm

         20  of Guack Siegel (phonetic) is here, and she will be

         21  able to spell out on the boards what those waivers

         22  are.

         23                 First of all, there is height and

         24  set-back modifications. For the West Broadway

         25  portion of our building, the underlying regulations
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          2  require that the street wall of the building rise no

          3  higher than six stories or 85 feet, which ever is

          4  less. And then must set back 15 feet.

          5                 This is for the Wooster Street

          6  (phonetic) portion of the building. The setback must

          7  be 20 feet. To satisfy the requirements of the

          8  Landmarks Preservation Commission approved design,

          9  the proposed West Broadway portion of the building

         10  exceeds this limit of six stories by two stories,

         11  and the Wooster Street portion by one story.

         12                 Both portions of the building, the

         13  depth of the required setback is five feet less than

         14  required by the zoning resolution. Modifications are

         15  requested for both of these encroachments.

         16                 Rear yard and rear yard equivalent

         17  modifications. Due to the irregularity of the lot,

         18  portions of it are a through lot for rear yard

         19  purposes, and thus require rear yard equivalence,

         20  while other portions are treated by the zoning

         21  resolution as interior lots and thus require rear

         22  yards.

         23                 For the portions of the site that are

         24  treated as interior lots, a 30 foot rear yard is

         25  required. On these portions we have a 27 foot six
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          2  inch rear yard, instead of the 30 feet.

          3                 Thus a modest modification or a

          4  waiver of two feet six inches of the rear yard is

          5  requested at these locations.

          6                 The remaining portion which is the

          7  majority of the site, is treated as a through lot,

          8  pursuant to 74-712(a) the site must provide a 60

          9  feet rear yard equivalent, but only a 55 foot rear

         10  yard is provided.

         11                 The waiver of this five feet allows

         12  the applicant to use all the floor area granted by

         13  the underlying district for permit regulations.

         14  Space which would be lost without this waiver, given

         15  the design controls imposed by the LPC, and our

         16  intent to preserve the light and air of an adjoining

         17  property owner.

         18                 Lastly, there is a special permit for

         19  a public garage. Currently, the site is occupied by

         20  a 200 odd spaced public parking lot. Given the

         21  extreme shortage of parking in this area, the

         22  applicant proposes to replace less than half of the

         23  public parking on the site that would be lost

         24  through the new construction.

         25                 Accordingly, the applicant has
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          2  applied for a special permit pursuant to Section

          3  7452 to establish a public parking garage in the

          4  cellar of the new building.

          5                 The applicant's proposal has received

          6  unanimous approval at all of its seven public

          7  hearings, including the following:

          8                 Unanimous approval at both the

          9  Landmark Committee and the full Board of Community

         10  Board No. 2, which happened on December 16th, 2004,

         11  many years ago, I might add.

         12                 Unanimous approval also from the

         13  Landmarks Preservation Commission on February 6th,

         14  2005, and then unanimous approval again at both the

         15  Land Use Committee, and the full Board of Community

         16  Board No. 2 on January 19th, 2006.

         17                 On March 3rd, 2006, the Manhattan

         18  Borough President recommended approval on the

         19  special permit and text amendment applications, and

         20  a conditional approval based on conditions that have

         21  been resolved on the parking garage special permit

         22  application.

         23                 And then lastly, on April 5th, 2006,

         24  the City Planning Commission unanimously adopted

         25  resolutions for the approval of the applicant's
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          2  requested actions.

          3                 And I may add that at every one of

          4  the these public hearings virtually, the adjoining

          5  property owners expressed concern and some

          6  opposition to all or a portion of our requests and

          7  at every opportunity we gave full assurance to the

          8  bodies that be that we would do what was right, and

          9  if you read the City Planning Commission Report

         10  carefully we are applauded for those efforts.

         11                 And I have a number of other people

         12  here that we would like our architect to go through

         13  the design, we would be happy to do that, and then

         14  we could answer any questions that you may have.

         15                 MS. SMITH: Hi. Lilla Smith. I wanted

         16  to show you the site plan. It is a through lot site,

         17  West Broadway, Wooster Street and currently it's a

         18  vacant lot. There are proposed two buildings, one on

         19  West Broadway, and one on Wooster Street with a rear

         20  yard that will be landscaped and provide light and

         21  air.

         22                 The section through here, these

         23  hatched areas, I don't know if you can see, but

         24  those outline the waivers that Howard Zipser had

         25  just gone through having to do with height and

                                                            42

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  setbacks. And also shaded in the back portion in

          3  section and planned are the two and a half feet of

          4  encroachment into the required 60 foot rear yard.

          5                 So, to show you, these are two plans,

          6  one is showing the cellar plan, which is part of it

          7  is for parking, valet parking and then the other

          8  portion of it, West Broadway, are all of the utility

          9  rooms that support the building.

         10                 The first floor plan here on West

         11  Broadway, there is a residential lobby, entry,

         12  commercial space, flanking that and the ramp down to

         13  the garage, the access down to the garage on the

         14  south side. This is the rear yard and on Wooster

         15  Street, the proposed residential use on the ground

         16  floor, and then there are -- there is a nine-story

         17  building on West Broadway and an eight-story

         18  building with all residential use above the first

         19  floor.

         20                 These are our street elevations

         21  showing it in context. We worked very hard with both

         22  landmarks and City Planning, making the building

         23  that was appropriate and would fit in with the scale

         24  of the neighborhood.

         25                 It is floor to ceiling glass, and
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          2  there is expression of the slab, and behind, in

          3  front of the columns metal channels. And there's

          4  different glasses that are used that create some

          5  depth into the facade. So, it's a modern

          6  interpretation of the cast iron buildings that are

          7  in the precinct.

          8                 And this is an axon showing it in the

          9  context. This is shaded in gray here. The SoHo

         10  Grande is across the street, so the building that is

         11  flanking that across is a story higher than the

         12  Wooster Street one. So there's a scale difference

         13  between the two buildings.

         14                 Also, photo montage, shots of showing

         15  it in the street context. This is a view looking

         16  down Wooster Street. Inserted into that, and we also

         17  have one that shows it looking north on West

         18  Broadway, and that is the neighboring building to

         19  the south and SoHo Grande here, and our building.

         20                 MR. ZIPSER: We're available for any

         21  questions, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Before I call on

         23  Committee members for questions, I'd like to call on

         24  Council Member Gerson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair. Thank you, my colleagues, members of this

          3  Committee. Thank you for your indulgence and support

          4  on this matter.

          5                 Mr. Chair, thank you as always for

          6  your true leadership of making sure our City's land

          7  is developed in a way that serves all of the

          8  legitimate interests of all concerned. On behalf of

          9  my community we truly thank you and appreciate your

         10  work.

         11                 It's my pleasure to recommend

         12  approval of the application before you. My

         13  recommendation, I'm pleased to announce, follows an

         14  agreement in principle reached between the developer

         15  from whom we just heard, and residents of adjoining

         16  property.

         17                 I am truly glad that I'm able to make

         18  this recommendation, because I think you know it is

         19  my strong preference to support development, which

         20  serves our City's and our community's interest and

         21  this project will do so.

         22                 You do need to know, and I'll be as

         23  brief as I possibly can, and you do need to know

         24  that the matter was complicated by the physical

         25  nature of the site.
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          2                 This is an area which has quite a bit

          3  of underground of water. It is the site and

          4  adjoining site of, in our community, at least, the

          5  notorious SoHo stream, which obviously has an impact

          6  on foundations, and exacerbating that impact, the

          7  structures of the adjoining buildings are old

          8  structures that are at the same time a part of

          9  historic district.

         10                 We, in fact, in this area have had

         11  several serious cases of foundation disruption and

         12  building destruction due to nearby construction

         13  work. And thus, the folks who live nearby were

         14  legitimately concerned over the impact. As a result,

         15  we had a series of very technical and in-depth

         16  discussions, and this will be memorialized in

         17  writing, which will be concluded before the full

         18  Committee meeting.

         19                 I just want to note and thank, first

         20  of all, the role of the Manhattan Borough President,

         21  who is represented by Brian Cook in the audience. I

         22  want to thank the role of the local community board,

         23  Community Board 2 represented here in the audience

         24  by the very able, indeed brilliant chair of the

         25  Zoning Committee, Mr. David Reck, and I do need to
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          2  note the fact that this was made possible because we

          3  truly, and Mr. Laboz's and his team, have a

          4  community-friendly and very decent developer.

          5                 Very, very briefly, the details will

          6  be set forth in writing. The understanding includes

          7  the following, that there will be an easement for

          8  light and air, and fire safety, with respect to the

          9  neighboring property.

         10                 There will be an underground full

         11  survey before any of the underground excavation work

         12  will be taken and with an effort to avoid, if at all

         13  possible, excavation work, adjoining the foundation

         14  of 311 West Broadway, the results of the survey will

         15  be shared with experts of the neighboring building.

         16  There will be state-of-the-art extra seismic

         17  monitoring, in real time available to all parties,

         18  in the event of the slightest indication of any

         19  potential problem, their work will cease in

         20  relationship to that section, and the experts will

         21  meet and work out a game plan. In the event they

         22  can't work out a game plan, there will be an expert

         23  arbitration, although we hope it won't come to that.

         24                 There have been agreements with

         25  respect to avoidance of dewatering, which would be
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          2  allowed only in exceptional circumstances in

          3  isolated spots, agreements with respect to auger

          4  drilling or the most advanced state-of-the-art least

          5  disruptive type of such drilling, or the equivalent

          6  thereof.

          7                 And there are intentions to avoid, as

          8  I said, excavation or underpinning of the adjoining

          9  properties, if at all.

         10                 These and other details will be set

         11  forth in writing, which will be made available to

         12  all of you, well, will be made available to all of

         13  you and will be included before the Committee

         14  meeting. And therefore, on the basis of these very

         15  long, drawn out, which I will not drag out any more,

         16  Mr. Chair, I do -- discussions, I do recommend an

         17  affirmative vote.

         18                 MR. ZIPSER: Mr. Chairman, point of

         19  information?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Sure.

         21                 MR. ZIPSER: There's just two minor

         22  corrections to Councilman Gerson's support

         23  statement. One is --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The key word

         25  is minor, right?
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          2                 MR. ZIPSER: Minor, yes.

          3                 There will not be auger drilling. We

          4  have agreed not to pile drive our drills, our piles.

          5  We are going to use a technique that will be

          6  explained in detail by my --

          7                 MR. POEPPEL: Alan Poeppel, Langan

          8  Engineering, for the applicant.

          9                 The method of pile installation will

         10  be a drilled in pile, which is a removal of the soil

         11  without vibrations, without disturbance and

         12  replacement with concrete and steel for the

         13  structural support.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me, Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 I accept that clarification. I

         17  actually thought I had corrected myself in progress.

         18  Maybe I was talking too fast, but I thought I said

         19  actually better than auger drilling, and that

         20  clarification is correct and I accept that.

         21                 All right, great.

         22                 MR. ZIPSER: And the second item I

         23  just want to say is it's very important that we put

         24  in this understanding also that my client has access

         25  to the site so that he can fully measure and
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          2  quantify the present condition of the building next

          3  door, and that he can monitor throughout the

          4  construction phase. Survey, expect and monitor.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That is also

          6  correct, and I believe that was implicit in my

          7  remarks, but that is absolutely correct.

          8                 MR. ZIPSER: Well, we thank you,

          9  Councilman Gerson.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Questions from

         11  Committee members?

         12                 Seeing none, we have a number of

         13  people signed up to speak. Before they do,

         14  gentlemen, representing the applicant and the

         15  applicant, I want to say that I think you really

         16  went overboard in addressing the community's

         17  concerns and I know you're doing that to a huge

         18  expense to this project. And I want to congratulate

         19  you on working with Council Member Gerson in the

         20  neighboring property, because you really resolved

         21  their concerns. At least to my satisfaction.

         22                 MR. ZIPSER: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: We have Brian

         24  Cook from the Borough President's Office. We have

         25  David Reck from Community Board 2.
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          2                 MR. COOK: I'd like to thank the

          3  Committee for hearing this application and

          4  specifically thank Council Member Gerson, before he

          5  leaves the room, specifically for working very

          6  closely with our office on this issue.

          7                 I would like to say that we've been

          8  working with both the applicant, as well as the

          9  tenants for some time now, and we've come a very far

         10  way that I would actually like to sort of highlight.

         11  The cellar itself has been raised two feet, I

         12  believe, maybe a little bit more, in order to make

         13  sure that they're above the water table, the

         14  stackers were eliminated at a financial expense to

         15  the applicant, but to basically ensure that the only

         16  dewatering that was going to occur was in isolated

         17  machine rooms.

         18                 This is a very big thing for us, and

         19  an indication the developer does want to work with

         20  the tenants.

         21                 To highlight a few others, the berm

         22  next to the building for the ramp has been extended

         23  now to 17 feet (sic). Rises above the flood plane,

         24  the pilings, of course, as was mentioned are going

         25  to be drilled, and all underpinning that's going to
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          2  occur from what we see from the plans, we believe

          3  even if it will occur will be minimal at best.

          4                 We believe there is a tentative plan

          5  to work together for a survey and for all title 1

          6  stuff -- Local Law 11, sorry, that basically

          7  everybody is at a point where they're acting in

          8  spirit of the agreement.

          9                 I think, you know, what got us to

         10  this point that there was negotiation so far is some

         11  small concern over language, you know, exactly what

         12  these smaller words mean, but having worked with

         13  both sides, I think that we are truly at a place

         14  that is going to be beneficial for not only this

         15  building and for the applicant, but for the entire

         16  surrounding neighborhood. And some of the standards

         17  which we see here we will probably be applying in

         18  our recommendations to other similar buildings that

         19  face these unique situations.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MR. RECK: I am David Reck. I chair

         22  the Community Board 2 Zoning Committee. I'm also a

         23  registered architect. And by the way, when I first

         24  got on Community Board 2, Alan Gerson had just been

         25  elected Chair of that Board. I've known him quite
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          2  some time.

          3                 On this particular application, I

          4  have to say that your impression is, in fact,

          5  correct. These guys did a terrific job of community

          6  outreach. Well before the community board meeting, I

          7  was approached and asked if I could arrange a

          8  meeting with the community under the auspices of the

          9  SoHo Alliance. There is another person here who will

         10  testify, James Dee, he offered up his loft which was

         11  right across the street from this building. We

         12  gathered the community. We brought Alan in early on,

         13  and these guys really did amend project the project

         14  in response to community concerns, and all along

         15  many of the concerns that have already been

         16  discussed here about the foundations, dewatering,

         17  seismic monitoring, these were all at the forefront

         18  of our concerns.

         19                 There have been some catastrophic

         20  foundation failures due to nearby construction in

         21  Board 2. That's not all that common, but they have

         22  occurred and people are very concerned about this.

         23                 Another concession they made, in

         24  SoHo, there are a lot of concerns about lot-lying

         25  windows. These guys freed up lot-lying windows on
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          2  the side.

          3                 Also, as a point of history on this,

          4  about three years ago, when I first became Chair of

          5  the Committee, the opportunity arose to negotiate on

          6  the text amendment for 74-712, and with Alan

          7  Gerson's help we really did get a lot of what we

          8  asked for, but there are two curious things that

          9  come up on this particular application, one of the

         10  things that we asked City Planning for, we wanted to

         11  have a requirement that they would analyze the

         12  possibility of parking, we recognized that some of

         13  these vacant lots in SoHo, the small lots in

         14  particular, parking would not be feasible, but we

         15  felt the larger lots, parking would be feasible.

         16  City Planning didn't see it our way, and in all

         17  through Board 2, where we are getting all our new

         18  buildings is on parking lots. Our parking is going

         19  away. So, the Board very strongly supports parking

         20  here.

         21                 The other one that was very curious,

         22  is the yard requirement. When we first looked at the

         23  amendment to the text, we were thinking of the

         24  situation in SoHo being that there are many SoHo

         25  buildings that have very small rear yards in the
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          2  neighborhood of eight to ten feet.

          3                 And our thinking was, if you put a

          4  building on the lot that faces one of these small

          5  yards and also give it a small rear yard, you're

          6  going to wind up with some dark dismal space

          7  suitable for garbage and rats. And, so, we really

          8  wanted a real yard in the buildings.

          9                 What we did not anticipate, however,

         10  is the through lot sites. And certainly to our

         11  intention, we did not intend to have a 60 foot

         12  middle yard on these through sites. So, the Board

         13  really felt that by having a huge yard, you really

         14  drive the building itself up higher, where we would

         15  prefer to have some flexibility and the way that

         16  this is being proposed to amend the text, they have

         17  the possibility of applying for it, it will come in

         18  from the community board for review, it will come

         19  from the City Planning for review. So, we think that

         20  this modification of the text is actually

         21  appropriate, and it offers up the possibility of

         22  preventing any abuse of it.

         23                 So, Board 2 is very much in favor of

         24  this application, and we really feel Councilman

         25  Gerson has done an outstanding job here, and we feel
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          2  the applicant has done an outstanding job, and we

          3  believe that the neighboring building really has

          4  worked out their issues, so I really feel good about

          5  speaking in favor of this.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I have one more

          8  speaker in favor, James Dee. It is my understanding

          9  that a number of the speakers in opposition have now

         10  waived their right to speak, given the compromise.

         11                 No, there are still members who want

         12  to speak in opposition? Okay, after he speaks, you

         13  can come up.

         14                 MR. DEE: Mr. Chairman, Committee

         15  members. My name is James Dee, and I'm the President

         16  of the 12 Wooster Street Tenants Corporation, which

         17  is across the street from the Wooster side of the

         18  development.

         19                 The first public meeting about this

         20  space was Mr. Laboz, Mr. Zipser and somebody from

         21  the architectural firm met in my studio and said

         22  that we're in the process of buying the lot, we're

         23  going to develop it, what do you want? We're going

         24  whoa. And he added not a park.

         25                 But with that caveat we talked about
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          2  our concerns which was basically lot-lying windows

          3  need to be protected, the construction site needed

          4  to protect the buildings around it, and we're losing

          5  parking and we wanted parking.

          6                 He has gone through with that with, I

          7  believe, and has been discussed, with great effort

          8  and expense to him, to protect the lot-lying

          9  windows, to add parking, although I'm disappointed

         10  that we can't dig a lot deeper and put more parking

         11  in, because the parking is disappearing in SoHo, but

         12  I believe all the way along there has been great

         13  communication with the community, with the

         14  neighbors, and these guys have done a stellar job as

         15  developers in presenting the project and developing

         16  it with the community in mind.

         17                 That's what I have to say.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Are there any

         19  people who do want to follow-up and speak in

         20  opposition? And then we are going to close the

         21  public hearing on this item and then I'm going to

         22  call on Council Member Dickens, who I understand has

         23  reached a compromise with the cafe, and then we will

         24  go for the vote on both items.

         25                 You've got to sit down and you have
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          2  to introduce yourself.

          3                 MS. BURTON: Hi. I'm Sigrid Burton,

          4  and I'm secretary of the Co-Op, Jacob Cram Coop, at

          5  307-309 West Broadway, which is the building to the

          6  south, adjacent to the construction. And I wanted to

          7  first say thank you to Councilman Gerson's Office,

          8  Sire Lonial (phonetic) for their work with us, Brian

          9  Cook's office, yourself, we've met with several

         10  people. Thank you, David Reck, from Community Board

         11  2. Also we wanted to thank the developer and the

         12  people working with him for meeting with us.

         13                 I just wanted to point out the

         14  special circumstances underlying Councilman Gerson's

         15  statement. The boards are also being passed around.

         16  The development site is the yellow site, and the

         17  small blue piece is our building in relation. The

         18  large maroon bleed is the federal flood plane.  And

         19  if you'll notice, on the right side there is a

         20  picture of Manhattan with a little highlighted area,

         21  that shows that federal flood plane. And this site

         22  is uniquely situated in the only inland federal

         23  flood plane on the Island of Manhattan.

         24                 So, there are very unique

         25  circumstances to this particular site and
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          2  development, which we have had concern about.

          3                 The next Board, and you have colored

          4  copies of these, I hope there were enough to go

          5  around, shows building problems, stresses and

          6  collapses that have occurred within a one-block

          7  radius of the building site.

          8                 The orange is the SoHo Grande Hotel.

          9  Again, the development is the yellow area. Our

         10  building is the blue area. The building in the upper

         11  right hand corner is the northeast corner of Graham

         12  and Wooster Street. That building was condemned due

         13  to collapse because of an excavation in the lot next

         14  door.

         15                 The reproduction on the left is the

         16  St. Alfonse's Church on the site of what is now the

         17  SoHo Grande Hotel, and that church was also -- had

         18  to be demolished because of water table, because of

         19  dewatering for the Sixth Avenue Subway.

         20                 And the final chart just shows the

         21  underground stream overlaid on top of the federal

         22  flood plane, which underlies the site.

         23                 Down towards the right, the red areas

         24  are down here where the collecting ponds for the

         25  water of Manhattan was stored in the 18th Century,
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          2  and you can see where the underground stream

          3  literally bleeds right under this site.

          4                 So, we have quite a high watertable.

          5                 So those were the basis of our

          6  concerns and why we felt this was such a unique site

          7  that needed special attention. We're sorry that the

          8  developer has been subjected to extra expense on

          9  this account, but it is, as you can see, a

         10  completely unique situation in Manhattan.

         11                 It's our hope that the agreement will

         12  be executed as per Alan's points and the points that

         13  have been made here, and thank you all for your time

         14  and taking the time to meet with us and hear about

         15  this.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair, I

         19  just need to add a note of gratitude to Sire Lonial,

         20  our Director of Land Use --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: -- Who has

         23  done such a great job --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's all.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member,

          3  I've got to cut you off. I do need to go to the

          4  vote.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I've

          6  concluded.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: With that, I'm

          8  going to close the public hearing on this item.

          9                 I will now call on Council Member

         10  Dickens to give a brief report on the subject of her

         11  negotiation on Cafe Deluxe.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Chair Avella

         13  and my colleagues, I have reached an agreement with

         14  the applicant Deluxe Cafe, as follows:

         15                 Sidewalk cafe will be no more than

         16  eight feet six inches at maximum. There will be 18

         17  tables reduced in size from the present diameter.

         18  Thirty-six chairs balanced on each side of the door

         19  egress. Tables will be no more than 21 inches in

         20  size, within the configuration of the submitted

         21  plans. There will be a three-foot waiter aisle

         22  service within the confines of the box. At no times

         23  will the egress either be blocked by patrons and/or

         24  tables and chairs. There will be a removal of one

         25  row of tables and chairs on each side of the door.
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          2                 Applicant must remove the illegal

          3  A-frame planter and waiter station. The seating of

          4  patrons must be within the box with no spillage onto

          5  the pedestrian sidewalk.

          6                 Deluxe has agreed to submitted plans

          7  and this agreement. There will be periodic

          8  unannounced inspections by our Honored body, and/or

          9  staff, to ensure that the applicant will not

         10  continue to operate as it has with disregard to the

         11  law or this agreement.

         12                 I thank my colleagues for their

         13  direction and input in helping me to arrive at this

         14  agreement, and I thank the Land Use staff, in

         15  particular Peter Janosek, for his diligence and

         16  observations and perseverance in visiting the site

         17  four times to ensure that my observations and real

         18  concerns were properly addressed.

         19                 Having reached this agreement, I

         20  respectfully agree to the application of Deluxe,

         21  with these amendments a part of and attached to the

         22  application.

         23                 I ask my colleagues to vote

         24  affirmative of application with these amendments.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,

          3  Council member. And it is our understanding that the

          4  applicant has agreed to these conditions and they

          5  will be part of the recommendation.

          6                 Chair recommends approval of both

          7  items with the modifications.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          9  Seabrook.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Aye on all.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Chair Avella.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Aye on all.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         14  Dilan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Aye on all.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         17  Felder.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         20  Gioia.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I vote yes.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         23  Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Considering

         25  the agreement that was reached, my only concern is
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          2  whether or not the owner will continue to violate

          3  what the zoning situation is.

          4                 But based on goodwill on all parties,

          5  and knowing that the Council member has diligently

          6  tried to address this situation and reached an

          7  agreement, I hesitantly vote aye on all.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          9  Katz.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye on all.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         12  Sears.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: With permission

         14  to explain my vote very quickly, Madam Chair -- Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Did you say Madam

         17  Chair?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I corrected

         19  myself. I'm sorry.

         20                 I just wanted to say that this

         21  meeting this morning certainly showed what it means

         22  to compromise, and I especially wish to speak on 311

         23  Broadway, because I think that what has been done

         24  has been tremendous. And for the one voice in

         25  opposition, I'd like to remind everybody that
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          2  LaGuardia Airport was not built without similar

          3  problems, and we still take the planes and they fly

          4  off, and they do all kids of things. And it has been

          5  absolutely tremendous that you have developers that

          6  have so truly grasped an issue so concerned about

          7  the co-op next door. And any time you want to build

          8  in my district, you will be welcomed, believe me.

          9                 So, I vote aye on both. And

         10  congratulations to Councilwoman Dickens, because

         11  really, that was a good thing to do. Thank you.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         13  Vann.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: By a vote of

         16  nine in the affirmative, none in the negative and no

         17  abstentions, the aforementioned items are approved

         18  and referred to the full Committee.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you,

         20  everyone. That closes this meeting of the

         21  Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 11:15 a.m.)

         23
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